
  

Cultural Services Board Meeting Agenda Page 1 

CULTURAL SERVICES, HISTORIC 
PRESERVATION, & TREE ADVISORY BOARD 

AGENDA 
 

MONDAY               COUNCIL CHAMBERS 
June 3, 2024 - 5:30 PM             4300 S. ATLANTIC AVENUE, PONCE INLET, FL                                         
 

SUNSHINE LAW NOTICE FOR BOARD MEMBERS – Notice is hereby provided that one or more 
members of the Town Council or other Town Boards may attend and speak at this meeting. 
 
A complete copy of the materials for this agenda is available at Town Hall. 
 
1. CALL TO ORDER & PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE. 
 
2. ROLL CALL & DETERMINATION OF QUORUM. 
  
3. ADOPTION OF AGENDA. 
 
4. APPROVAL OF THE MINUTES: 
 A. May 6, 2024 
 
5. REPORT OF STAFF: 
 A. Cultural Services update – Jackie Alex, Cultural Services Manager 
 B. Public Works update – Fred Griffith, Public Works Director 
 
6. OLD BUSINESS:  
 A. Additional Research on the Athletic Court Reservation System  

 
7. NEW BUSINESS:  

A. Tree Removal Request – #DEVR 314-2024  
Property Address:      112 Inlet Harbor Road 

 
8. PUBLIC PARTICIPATION. 
 
9. BOARD/STAFF DISCUSSION. 
  
10. ADJOURNMENT. 
 
Next Meeting:  Monday, July 1, 2024 
 
If a person decides to appeal any decision made by the Cultural Services Board with respect to any matter considered 
at a meeting, they will need a record of the proceedings and to ensure that a verbatim record of the proceedings is 
made at their own expense. Persons who require accommodation to attend this hearing should contact the Ponce Inlet 
Town Hall at 236-2150 at least one week prior to the meeting date to request such assistance. 



 
 

 

 
Report to the Cultural Services, 

Historic Preservation, and Tree Advisory Board 
 
Topic: Approval of Meeting Minutes 
 
Summary:  
 
Staff has prepared the attached set of meeting minutes for the Board’s 
review and approval. 
 
Suggested Motion/Action: 
 

To APPROVE the May 6, 2024 meeting minutes: 
 

 As Presented - or -   As Amended 
 
Requested by: 
 

Ms. Stewart, Assistant Deputy Clerk 
 
Reviewed & Authorized by: 
 

Mrs. Alex, Cultural Services Manager 
 
Approved by: 
 

Mr. Disher, Town Manager 

Meeting Date: June 3, 2024 

Agenda Item:   4 



 

 

Cultural Services Board    5/06/2024             Page 1 of 8 
Meeting Minutes 

 Town of Ponce Inlet 1 

CULTURAL SERVICES, HISTORIC PRESERVATION, 2 

AND TREE ADVISORY BOARD 3 

REGULAR MEETING MINUTES 4 

May 6, 2024 5 
  6 
1. CALL TO ORDER & PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE: Pursuant to proper notice, Chair Bell 7 
called the meeting to Order at 5:30 PM in the Council Chambers, located at 4300 S. Atlantic Avenue, 8 
Ponce Inlet, Florida and led the attendees in the Pledge of Allegiance.   9 
 10 
2. ROLL CALL & DETERMINATION OF QUORUM: A quorum was established with five 11 
members and two alternates present. 12 
 13 
 Board members present: 14 
  Ms. LaBarre, Seat 1 15 
  Ms. Keese, Seat 2 16 
  Mr. Shaffer, Seat 3 17 
  Ms. Finch, Seat 4; Vice-Chair 18 
  Ms. Bell, Seat 5, Chair  19 
  Ms. Kessler, Alternate Seat 1  20 
  Mr. Patton, Alternate Seat 2 - Absent 21 
  22 
 Staff members present: 23 

Ms. Alex, Cultural Services Manager 24 
Mr. Disher, Town Manager 25 
Ms. Hugler, Fire Department Office Manager   26 

  Ms. New, Town Attorney  27 
  Ms. Rippey, Principal Planner 28 
  Chief Scales, Public Safety Director 29 

Ms. Stewart, Assistant Deputy Clerk 30 
 31 

3. ADOPTION OF AGENDA: Chair Bell requested switching the order of items 7-A and 7-B 32 
swap, therefore hearing the tree removal request prior to the pickleball court discussion.  33 
 34 
Ms. LaBarre moved to approve the agenda as amended; seconded by Mr. Shaffer. The motion PASSED 35 
by consensus, 5-0. 36 
 37 
4. APPROVAL OF MINUTES: 38 
 39 
 A. April 1, 2024 – Chair Bell asked if there were any changes; there were none.  40 
 41 
Chair Bell moved to approve the April 1, 2024 meeting minutes as presented; seconded by Vice-Chair 42 
Finch. The motion PASSED by consensus, 5-0. 43 
 44 
5. REPORT OF STAFF: 45 



 

Cultural Services Board Minutes           05/06/2024             Page 2 of 8 

A. Cultural Services Update – Mrs. Alex announced that May 7, 2024 is a volunteer 46 
workday in Ponce Preserve to remove invasive plants; approximately 22 volunteers will be 47 
participating. An update will be posted on the Town’s Facebook page following the event. 48 

 49 
B. Public Works Update – Chief Scales reported that Public Works is continuing research 50 

on the kayak launch discussed last month. The department is in the process of creating their budget for 51 
next year and reviewing a multitude of maintenance projects that involve the parks and cultural services 52 
offerings the Town has. If Board members have suggestions or questions for Public Works, please 53 
contact them.   54 
 55 
6. OLD BUSINESS: None. 56 
 57 
7. NEW BUSINESS:  58 
 59 
B. A. Tree Removal Request – 4716 South Peninsula Drive: - Ms. Rippey provided a presentation 60 
and noted that the applicant/property owner is in attendance if there are any questions after the 61 
presentation. The tree in question is one Live Oak measuring 18” diameter at breast height (DBH); if 62 
approved, the applicant will be allowed to remove the specimen tree from his lot and will be required 63 
to replace it with one shade tree on the property. She reviewed the authority and process of a tree 64 
removal permit application, noting that for trees of this size, the Cultural Services Board has the 65 
authority to approve, approve with conditions, or deny the request. Ms. Rippey provided an overview 66 
of the property and the adjacent properties, including an aerial photograph of the property and images 67 
of the tree that show it is leaning towards the home. The applicant is concerned about the tree damaging 68 
the home during storm events and indicated in his narrative that due to the tree’s proximity to the house, 69 
the tree requires frequent trimming. She reviewed the vegetation protection and removal standards and 70 
stated that based on the findings of this report, staff finds the application meets the criteria to support 71 
the requested removal of the 18” DBH Live Oak tree and recommends approval subject to the following 72 
condition: the applicant shall mitigate the tree removal with one specimen-species native shade tree 73 
that is a minimum of 6-feet in height and 2.5” caliper at the time of planting. She noted that after the 74 
application was submitted and this staff report was distributed to the Board, the arborist report was 75 
received and provided to the Board; she reviewed the report which also recommends removal. 76 
 77 
Vice Chair Finch moved to recommend approval of the tree removal request for 4716 South Peninsula 78 
Drive subject to the stated condition; seconded by Ms. LaBarre. The motion PASSED 5-0, with the 79 
following vote: Vice-Chair Finch - yes; Ms. LaBarre – yes; Ms. Keese – yes; Mr. Shaffer – yes; Chair Bell 80 
- yes. 81 
 82 
A. B. Athletic Court Reservation System – Ms. Alex explained that issues were recently brought to 83 
the attention of staff regarding the Town’s court reservation system; these issues include potential 84 
improvements, as well as compliance with the Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA). She provided 85 
background on the Town’s current online court reservation system and noted that the Volusia ECHO 86 
grant requires access to the public without discrimination. In March, after intermittent and temporary 87 
closures for renovations of the courts in Daytona Beach Shores, Ponce Inlet residents requested a 88 
meeting with staff to discuss concerns about losing their reservations to which they had become 89 
accustomed; at the meeting,13 requests were provided to staff to change various aspects of the Town’s 90 
online reservation system. A separate request was made by one resident for advanced reservations as a 91 
special accommodation under the ADA. While the Town Attorney determined the request for advanced 92 
reservations did not meet the legal requirements of a reasonable modification request, the request did 93 
make the Town aware of potential liabilities of its current online reservation system. Under the ADA 94 
law, the Town is legally required to provide a reasonable modification to an ADA request. 95 

https://ponceinlet-my.sharepoint.com/:p:/g/personal/dstewart_ponce-inlet_org/EQTlcOCVbCdClMD1quKI1YIBqVDM0dCNDyW15fv0zqbKzA?e=4ti7nw


 

Cultural Services Board Minutes           05/06/2024             Page 3 of 8 

 96 
Ms. Alex explained that Town staff conducted research and consulted with the Town Attorney 97 

and other municipalities regarding online reservation system and found two options that provide a 98 
reasonable modification for individuals with a disability to make a court reservation. The first option 99 
is a staffed telephone line; however, the Department of Justice (DOJ) does not believe this provides a 100 
realistic, equal opportunity to all disabilities and states the Town is not under a legal obligation to 101 
provide this option. The second option is to remove the online court reservation system for all Town 102 
athletic courts and establish the courts as open play on a first-come, first-served basis. This option 103 
provides a solution to the resident’s requests regarding the online system and the most feasible option 104 
to legally provide an ADA reasonable modification.  105 

 106 
Ms. Alex noted that recent updates to the ADA will affect the Town’s overall approach to digital 107 

inclusivity in future years. A federal rule published April 26th cites that state and local governments 108 
must follow specific technical standards for web content and mobile apps, including content provided 109 
by a third party such as a reservation system. The DOJ has set a compliance deadline of three years for 110 
the Town and other smaller communities to comply with the updated standards. There are two separate 111 
aspects of the ADA requirements that the Town must comply with: 1) the new technical standards that 112 
third-party vendors must provide on web and mobile app content; and 2) the current requirement to 113 
provide reasonable modifications to all ADA requests when made. Staff is requesting a 114 
recommendation from the Board on whether to keep, modify, or remove the online court reservation 115 
system; and a recommendation from the Board on whether to research potential locations and cost 116 
estimates for additional pickleball courts within the Town. She introduced the Town Attorney, Holli 117 
New, for any questions. 118 
 119 
 Chair Bell stated many written comments have been received regarding this issue, with most in 120 
favor of keeping the current system. She opened Board discussion. Ms. Keese asked what the ADA 121 
problem is with the reservation system. Attorney New explained a request was received for an 122 
accommodation; if someone who has a disability cannot use the reservation system because of their 123 
disability, they have the right to call the Town and request an accommodation to have an equal 124 
opportunity. She explained the ADA law in more detail and provided examples. Vice Chair Finch asked 125 
if the reservation system is not ideal, and if the Town chose option 2 would we be following the ADA. 126 
Attorney New explained the ADA encourages the most inclusive approach to any sort of public service 127 
or program. The ADA is on an individualized basis and gives governments the flexibility to analyze 128 
for an inclusive approach. Members discussed the current system and the ADA. Option 1, staffed phone 129 
line, was discussed and how it may not meet serve the needs of all disabilities. Option 2, an open play 130 
system, was discussed at length; the benefits and drawbacks to open play were also discussed at length. 131 
It was suggested holding a court open just for disabilities and if that would fulfill the ADA. Attorney 132 
New reiterated that the Town’s obligation is to offer everyone the same opportunity to benefit from the 133 
system. Chair Bell opened public comment. 134 
 135 
 Mary Comfort, 85 Ocean Way Drive, stated her understanding of the web accessibility 136 
guidelines is that if the reservation system complies with the guidelines, you have met the standard for 137 
inclusivity. She would like to better understand why this is not the same thing as the example of the 138 
parking space payment system. Attorney New explained the web content accessibility standards are 139 
separate from the reasonable accommodation or modification requirement. The technical standards 140 
were newly implemented this year in April, and state and local governments must abide by those within 141 
a timeframe determined by population. Even if the Town found a reservation system that adheres to the 142 
technical requirements, there is still an ongoing requirement under the ADA to provide reasonable 143 
accommodation if someone with a disability still cannot access the reservation system. Ms. Comfort 144 
suggested the Town require proof of disability from a doctor on a letterhead for a reasonable 145 



 

Cultural Services Board Minutes           05/06/2024             Page 4 of 8 

accommodation request. Mr. Shaffer asked if the reservation system could be kept and have something 146 
in place for handicapped people to have an option to reserve the court ahead of time. Attorney New 147 
explained the Town would have to ensure that whatever modification or accommodation being offered 148 
is equally effective for everyone. Steve Hollinger, 4670 Lynx Village Drive, B-204, asked if a disabled 149 
person has ever complained about the reservation system; he believes the reservation system is a benefit 150 
to a disabled person because they can get a court, know when they can get a court, and show up and 151 
play. He loves the reservation system here; when he goes to the Shores to play, depending on how many 152 
people are there, you may have to wait 30 minutes between games. Four people play pickleball; if he 153 
cannot access a computer, he will ask a friend so one of the other four can make the reservation. He 154 
asked if we are chasing a problem that does not exist; there was an issue a few weeks ago when the 155 
Shores closed their courts for remodeling, so their players came here to play.  Ponce Inlet is the only 156 
place he knows that has a reservation system; he listed the open play cities. Ms. Kessler commented 157 
that pickleball is a sport and it seems to her that you cannot be visually impaired or immobile to play; 158 
she does not understand why anyone would not be able to access the reservation system. Attorney New 159 
explained it is not within the Town’s scope to determine whether a particular service is available or 160 
determining disabilities because some are seen and unseen. It may not look like a typical game of 161 
pickleball but be their way of benefiting from this amenity. Jan Shaw, 4358 Candlewood Lane, stated 162 
they have played on the new courts and reservation system for the last five years without an issue; the 163 
problem started with the frustration over the Shores players taking up court time. She attended the 164 
meeting that was requested with staff to discuss this frustration; up until then, no one had complained 165 
about the system or that they were disabled and having trouble getting a court. The special 166 
accommodation request also came from the frustration caused by the Shores players. They were not 167 
fast enough to reserve the courts before the Shores players. The ADA was mentioned at that meeting; 168 
she asked if anyone has approached the Town that reserving a court is still a problem, because it is not. 169 
She has assisted those people that were having an issue with the system and booked courts for them; 170 
there has not been an issue for the last several weeks. She referenced an email she sent to the Board, 171 
showing the reservation system for the week and all the available capacity. She agrees with the 172 
gentleman that this is much ado about nothing. 173 
 174 
 Lisa Genovese, 4628 Riverwalk Village Lane, stated she has a group that plays and has reserved 175 
two courts for the last two years; starting in January, she could only book one court because people 176 
were booking the court but not showing up to play. She asked the town several months ago if they could 177 
send an email that if people are not going to play, to please cancel the court but nothing was done. Her 178 
husband is the one is disabled; when it was busy, he could not book a court. The ADA problem could 179 
go away because a person could appoint someone to reserve a court for them. She noted that it is not 180 
just disabled people that have problems with the reservation system; older people do as well. She added 181 
that the older players do not want to play with much younger players. We need the reservation system, 182 
and it works for everyone. She asked at the last meeting if there was a way to make a standing 183 
reservation; maybe form a league and block out times for the league so no one must make a reservation 184 
unless you are a newbie or a visitor. She apologized for bringing up the ADA, but it is unfair that her 185 
husband cannot book a reservation; however, it is not stopping him from getting a court as he can 186 
appoint someone to book it for him. Chair Bell asked for clarification that Ms. Genovese’s husband is 187 
the one who called with the ADA issues. Ms. Genovese explained her husband has Parkinson’s disease 188 
and pickleball is the only thing he can still do. She noted that the younger people do not want to play 189 
with the older people and the older people do not want to play with them; someone could get hurt. The 190 
reservation system is beautiful but needs to be tweaked; she volunteered to help with it. She clarified 191 
that three weeks in a row on a Tuesday at 10:00, the same person booked a court, but did not show up 192 
to play. Her friend made a list and in 13 days there were 43 no-shows; this is an issue that needs to be 193 
addressed; there are reservation systems that keep track of no-shows.  194 
 195 



 

Cultural Services Board Minutes           05/06/2024             Page 5 of 8 

 Vice Chair Finch commented that there have been complaints that people take advantage of the 196 
reservation system by using multiple email addresses which ties up the court; there are also complaints 197 
about people signing up for other people. She understands that is an accommodation for the disabled, 198 
but she is not sure it fair to the public. She appreciates that Ms. Genovese brought up the ADA as it 199 
needs to be reviewed. Mary Lou Fillingame, 33 Ocean Way Drive, stated she has been playing 200 
pickleball in Ponce Inlet for 10 years; she was one of the ones that went to the town and begged for 201 
pickleball courts. She does not want to do away with the reservation system; however, if we do remove 202 
it, where will people park? There are only six parking spots on South Peninsula Drive and a few down 203 
the side. Staff parks there during the week; there is also the tennis court, the basketball court, and the 204 
racquetball court. Parking is something the Board needs to think about before a decision is made.  205 
 206 
Chair Bell moved to research if it would be reasonably accommodating to keep the current reservation 207 
system and keep one court open for that reasonable modification if needed; and to research what 208 
websites would meet the new technical standards. The motion failed for lack of a second.  209 
 210 

Mr. Shaffer commented that we may need to research a new reservation system that 211 
automatically keeps count and penalizes the no-shows. Ms. Alex explained that staff researched several 212 
different reservation systems; what Chair Bell is proposing does not provide the equal opportunity 213 
required. The court reservation system that she has been researching on a trial basis is almost the same 214 
as other online reservation systems. A staff member would have to be present to check them in or note 215 
a no-show, etc. Discussion ensued regarding no-shows, the reservation system, and having an open 216 
court. Ms. Genovese suggested painting the tennis court as the fifth pickleball court to use as open play. 217 
Attorney New quoted the ADA requirement: “individuals with disabilities get to use the public service 218 
in a manner that provides substantially equivalent timeliness, privacy, independence, and ease of use.” 219 
These are not arbitrary standards; these are federal regulations that we are required to adhere to and 220 
there are consequences if we do not. The ADA is to be as inclusive as possible despite inconveniences. 221 
Chair Bell commented that per the agenda the Board is being asked to keep, modify, or remove the 222 
current reservation system; she asked if the only choice is to remove it. Attorney New explained she 223 
and Ms. Alex have discussed potential options and the practical application; it cannot be equal in theory 224 
- it must be equal as applied. Chair Bell asked what the best recommendation for modification to 225 
Council would be. Attorney New expressed having a separate open play court for people with 226 
disabilities is not an equal opportunity for benefit. She explained that non-disabled people would have 227 
75% more chances to utilize the court. Angie Cooper, 4626 Harbour Village Boulevard, asked if the 228 
town had three years to comply with an ADA plan. Ms. Alex explained there are two separate 229 
requirements for the ADA process; one is the technical standard that the Town must comply within the 230 
next three years for web content; and the other is now, or at any time in the future, the Town must 231 
legally comply with any reasonable modification request for a disabled person. Ms. Cooper asked if 232 
there was an actual request; Ms. Alex responded yes. Ms. Cooper noted that the word “reasonable” is 233 
ambiguous; she asked why we cannot leave the reservation system as it is and bring in an ADA 234 
specialist to provide guidance. Attorney New explained there is not a specific timeframe to respond to 235 
provide flexibility depending on individual government resources; It is an interactive process to figure 236 
out a reasonable accommodation.  237 

 238 
Ms. Keese stated she would like to wait for a decision until more research is conducted. Ms. 239 

Alex explained multiple options have been explored but she is open to suggestions that would provide 240 
equal opportunity. Chair Bell agreed, since the person that first requested the accommodation now 241 
wants to keep the reservation system. Mr. Shaffer suggested the Board study the ADA to better 242 
understand it so they could come up with a better solution and keep the system as is. Nancy Breedlove, 243 
4670 Links Village Drive, stated the reservation system works well; she could say she has a disability 244 
and get a letter from her doctor stating that; she tries at 10:00 to reserve a court and by 10:01 they are 245 



 

Cultural Services Board Minutes           05/06/2024             Page 6 of 8 

all full. The biggest issue with the reservation system is what has been said - people do not show up. 246 
There is a sign stating you forfeit the court if you do not show up within 10 minutes. She suggested a 247 
system where players could notify the town when a court that was reserved is unoccupied; then that 248 
person could get penalized. She suggested that those with disabilities be able to call a week in advance 249 
to reserve a court and to set the tennis courts up as pickleball courts certain times of the week. 250 
Discussion continued. 251 
Chair Bell moved to recommend staff and the Town Attorney research if it would be reasonably 252 
accommodating to have an online athletic court reservation system open only during Town business 253 
hours for those with disabilities to call and reserve a court. The motion FAILED for lack of a second. 254 
 255 
 Jennifer Feuer, 4653 Riverwalk Village Court, stated that having the availability to reserve a 256 
court 24/7 is more accommodating than 8:00 am to 4:00 pm; 24/7 is completely inclusive. We need to 257 
look at “holdmycourt.com” as it has been in place 10 years and see if there is an updated version that 258 
is ADA compliant and that will send automatic email reservation reminders; doctors, hair salons, etc., 259 
use similar systems and do not have these issues; and it would solve the “no-show” issue because the 260 
reminder could provide a cancellation option. Attorney New noted that it brought forth something we 261 
were unaware of, and we want to ensure we are being as inclusive as possible. Mary Comfort, 85 Ocean 262 
Way Drive, requested staff research other municipalities that have a reservation system. Attorney New 263 
explained there are very particular standards of what reasonable is; if directed by the Town, she could 264 
take each proposed solution and do an in-depth analysis, review case law, ADA analysis, etc., so the 265 
Board can fully understand what the ADA requires. Ms. Genovese asked if she could drop the request 266 
she made for her husband for reasonable accommodation; he has the right to ask others to book a court 267 
for him, which is what we have been doing and it is no longer a problem. Vice Chair Finch added that 268 
another concern is double-booking by people using multiple email accounts. Discussion continued. Bill 269 
Collard, 4628 Harbour Village Boulevard, stated he watched four people tonight provide a solution, 270 
yet no one listened; the two tennis courts are rarely used, one could be painted as a pickleball court and 271 
be for ADA only, and leave the other four pickleball courts as they are.  272 
 273 
 Mr. Disher explained that this is a matter of risk for the Town and what the Town must do to 274 
comply with the ADA. The Town Attorney has done a great job with this. Her job is to keep the Town 275 
from getting sued. He explained a similar situation that happened a few years ago when the Town 276 
removed bus stops; that was based on the ADA. Someone was suing communities in the county for not 277 
having ADA-compliant bus stops. Ponce Inlet did not get sued because we removed our bus stops; 278 
eventually we were able to install ADA-compliant bus stops. The same thing happened with the 279 
website; people were suing jurisdictions for not having ADA-compliant websites. The Town removed 280 
all documents until we figured out how to make them compliant. Again, we were the only jurisdiction 281 
that did not get sued. It comes down to a matter of risk. We will research this and provide different 282 
options; this Board and the Council can then weigh those options. 283 
 284 
Chair Bell moved to request staff and Town Attorney further research to seek compliance for online 285 
athletic court reservation system only open during normal operating business hours to be equally 286 
accessible to meet ADA requirements.  287 
 288 
 Ms. Kessler asked if the motion could be amended to add “automated system for 24-hours that 289 
are compliant”. 290 
 291 
Chair Bell amended the motion to request staff and Town Attorney further research to seek compliance 292 
for either a new online athletic court reservation system that would meet the ADA requirements or 293 
allowing a system open only during normal operating business hours to be equally accessible to meet 294 
ADA requirements. The motion failed for lack of a second.  295 



 

Cultural Services Board Minutes           05/06/2024             Page 7 of 8 

 296 
Vice Chair Finch stated she is not seconding this motion because she is concerned about the 297 

time and money already put into researching this issue. Attorney New explained again that the website 298 
or system may be technically accessible under the ADA requirements, but the Town still must give an 299 
accommodation to someone who, despite adherence to the ADA technical standards, still cannot access 300 
the reservation system. Ms. LaBarre asked if there was an opportunity for further research or if the 301 
research was concluded. Ms. Alex reiterated that she and the Town Attorney have researched several 302 
options; all the submitted comments were researched: the tennis court, an additional open-play court, 303 
no reservation system, and a completely different reservation system. They have not found one that is 304 
a reasonable modification to provide equal opportunity for all or most disabilities. Attorney New added 305 
that there has not been a suggestion that she would recommend that is a reasonable risk; she added that 306 
this is an extremely litigious area of law and especially against local governments.  307 

 308 
Dave Fraboni, 4733 Riverglen Boulevard, stated he Googled ADA, Florida, pickleball court 309 

systems, and found four; one the city of Winter Park uses. We should do the research to make sure it 310 
checks the boxes and that it guarantees the opportunity to make a reservation; but it is not guaranteed 311 
you have the same court every time. Attorney New explained the system Winter Park has may be 312 
technically accessible under the ADA and meet the technical requirements. They also may have the 313 
resources to accommodate a reasonable request for someone who still may not be able to access the 314 
reservation system. The Town still must provide a modification to someone with a disability that may 315 
still not be able to access a reservation system that meets the ADA technical standards. Chair Bell 316 
suggested a call center as an option. Jennifer Feuer, 4653 Riverwalk Village Court, suggested that 317 
before we remove the reservation system, could they make a motion to have two open play courts and 318 
two reservation-only courts for a set time to evaluate how it affects the community at large including 319 
those with disabilities and see what the reaction is. Vice Chair Finch stated that all concerns that have 320 
been raised would be solved with open courts; her concern is the town being sued. She noted that 321 
Harbour Village could make their private courts into pickleball courts.  322 
 323 
Vice Chair Finch moved to remove the online athletic court reservation system; seconded by Ms. 324 
LaBarre. The motion FAILED 2-3 with the following vote: Vice Chair Finch -yes; Ms. LaBarre – yes; 325 
Ms. Keese – no; Mr. Shaffer – no; Chair Bell – no. 326 
 327 
 Attorney New referred to the suggestion of two open courts and two reserved courts; stated she 328 
can put it formally in writing with the requisite references, but it is not something that she would 329 
recommend, and she explained that it still would not be equitable access.  330 
 331 

Ms. Keese moved to keep the athletic court reservation system as is and for staff and the Town 332 
Attorney to research other municipalities that have online court reservation systems and report back 333 
to the Board; seconded by Mr. Shaffer. The motion PASSED 4-1 with the following vote: Ms. Keese – yes; 334 
Mr. Shaffer – yes; Ms. LaBarre – yes; Vice Chair Finch – no; Chair Bell - yes. 335 
 336 

Jim Meadows, 752 Tarrytown Trail, Port Orange, stated he is blessed to be invited to play in 337 
Ponce Inlet; he does not want to play at an open play court; he listed his injuries and ailments that 338 
hinder him when trying to play at open play courts. He explained how difficult it is to play on an open 339 
play court with disabilities.  340 

 341 
Chair Bell moved have staff research the cost of painting the tennis courts as dual sports courts; 342 
seconded by Ms. Keese. The motion PASSED with the following vote: Chair Bell – yes; Ms. Keese – 343 
yes; Ms. LaBarre – no; Ms. Finch – yes; Mr. Shaffer - yes. 344 
 345 



 

Cultural Services Board Minutes           05/06/2024             Page 8 of 8 

 Attorney New encouraged anyone that feels that the state and federal requirements that affect 346 
us directly are too onerous to go to the federal register when the Department of Justice releases a 347 
proposed notice of rulemaking, to tighten regulations on local governments; they do accept public 348 
feedback and take it into consideration.  349 
 350 

B.   Timucuan Oaks Garden Potential Improvements - Ms. Alex stated two hurricanes made 351 
landfall in September and November 2022 creating an impact throughout our town; Timucuan Oaks 352 
Garden was one of these areas, experiencing destruction of the park’s pergola. Previous discussions 353 
among this Board suggest a preference to not rebuild this pergola; other suggestions include additional 354 
benches, a paved walkway to the boardwalk, butterfly plants, and more shade trees. Staff submitted the 355 
pergola for FEMA reimbursement and is anticipating reimbursement in the amount of $14,640. Staff 356 
is requesting a recommendation from the Board on whether to rebuild a pergola within the park or to 357 
budget for other improvements within the park for the next fiscal year (FY 2024/25).  Ms. Keese asked 358 
if we must rebuild the pergola since FEMA is reimbursing the money. Ms. Alex explained we can use 359 
the funds for different things. Chair Bell commented that rebuilding the pergola has been discussed 360 
previously; it could go airborne in a hurricane, and it really serves no shade purpose. She would like to 361 
see the jasmine moved to the gazebo, provide additional benches, and provide ADA accessibility to the 362 
boardwalk. She researched that and instead of hardening the walkway with concrete, provide an 363 
alternative such as a beach mat (she provided a photo). 364 
 365 
Consensus to not rebuild the pergola, provide additional benches, research ADA accessibility to the 366 
boardwalk, and provide a structure for the jasmine to climb; 5-0, consensus. 367 
 368 
8. PUBLIC PARTICIPATION: There was no public participation.  369 
 370 
9. BOARD/STAFF DISCUSSION: None.  371 
 372 
10. ADJOURNMENT: The meeting was adjourned at 7:43 p.m.  373 
 374 
Prepared and submitted by: 375 
 376 
_________________________________ 377 
Debbie Stewart, Assistant Deputy Clerk 378 
 379 
Attachment(s):  Resident comments 380 
    Arborist report 381 
    Photo of beach mat 382 















































































































Customer Name: Charlene Rossi 

Address: 4716 South Peninsula Drive, Ponce 
Inlet Florida 32129

Phone: 386.314.3297

Species Identification:  18.7" DBH (diameter at breast height) Quercus 
virginiana. 

Species Diagnosis: Specimen has significant 
home  Main leader damages and union damages present 

throughout the canopy and the stem of the tree. Decay has not been 
compartmentalized properly due to poor cutting and branch protection 
zone damages. Large epicormic growth present from main leader of the tree 
due to major cutting in the past; causing weak branch structure. Sandy soil 
and leaning present. 

Recommendation: Removal 

Deemed: Tree is hazardous in abnormal wind conditions.  

Michael Feltner
ISA Certified Arborist 
FL9716FL9716-AA





Report to the Cultural Services, 
Historic Preservation, and Tree Advisory Board 

Topic: Additional Research on the Athletic Court Reservation System. 

Summary:  

Review and discuss options for the athletic court reservation system. 

Suggested Motion/Action: 

Recommendation of whether to keep, modify, or remove the online 
athletic court reservation system. 

Requested by: 

Ms. Alex, Cultural Services Manager 

Approved by: 

Mr. Disher, Town Manager 

Meeting Date: June 3, 2024 

Agenda Item:   6-A 



Page 1 of 6 
 

 
 

MEMORANDUM 
TOWN OF PONCE INLET, CULTURAL SERVICES DEPARTMENT 

The Town of Ponce Inlet staff shall be professional, caring and fair in delivering community excellence 
while ensuring Ponce Inlet residents obtain the greatest value for their tax dollar. 

 

To:  Cultural Services, Historic Preservation, and Tree Advisory Board 
From:  Jackie Alex, Cultural Services Manager 
Date:  May 24, 2024 
Subject: Additional Research on the Athletic Court Reservation System 
 
MEETING DATE:  June 3, 2024 
 
Introduction: 1 
The purpose of this report is to provide additional information on accessibility options for the 2 
Town’s court reservation system, as requested by the Cultural Services Board at its May 6, 2024 3 
meeting. The 1990 Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA) prohibits discrimination against people 4 
with any disability, seen or unseen, including access to state and local government programs and 5 
services such as the athletic courts at Pollard Park. Under Title II of the ADA, governmental 6 
entities have an obligation to provide full and equal enjoyment of its “services, programs and 7 
activities” to individuals with disabilities. If a government fails to fulfill its obligations, an 8 
individual may seek enforcement by filing an administrative complaint with an appropriate Federal 9 
agency or commencing a private lawsuit (Attachment). 10 
 11 
The report discusses the viability of nine options that were provided last month by the public, 12 
Board members, and staff. This information is brought before this Board to provide a basis for a 13 
recommendation to the Town Council regarding the online court reservation system.  14 
 15 
Background:  16 
At the May 6, 2024, Cultural Services Board meeting, Staff presented a report to discuss issues 17 
recently raised by residents regarding the Town’s online court reservation system. The issues 18 
included potential improvements to the system, as well as compliance with the Americans with 19 
Disabilities Act (ADA) stemming from a request for special accommodation.   20 
 21 
The purpose of the ADA law is to make sure that those with disabilities have the same rights and 22 
opportunities as everyone else to access locations and services that are available to the general 23 
public. With the request for accommodation, the Town is under legal obligation to provide what 24 
was discussed in the meeting as a “reasonable modification.” Public services, public facilities, and 25 
public resources obtained through public funds must each comply with the ADA law. As pickleball 26 
at Pollard Park meets all three of these categories for ADA compliance, the focus of the May 6th 27 
meeting was to address the ADA compliance required by law. 28 
 29 



Page 2 of 6 
 

Staff discussed two separate requirements the Town must abide by regarding ADA compliance:  30 
 31 

1. All web content provided on the Town’s website, including reservation systems, must meet 32 
new WCAG 2.1 Level AA technical standards.  33 

2. The Town must provide a reasonable modification to a public service when a request for 34 
an accommodation is made.  35 

 36 
The Town has three years1 to meet the first requirement and must also work to provide a reasonable 37 
modification when requested at any time. ADA compliance is a matter of federal law. Now that 38 
the Town has been made aware of this issue, it is obligated to provide a reasonable modification 39 
for those with disabilities that request one in the future. 40 
 41 
Discussion:  42 
The focus of Staff and the Town Attorney on this topic is assessing the Town’s options for the 43 
future of the court reservation system, including both the feasibility and the liability risk of each 44 
option. The legal analysis of each option from the Town Attorney is provided on the Attachment.  45 
 46 
Since the distribution of the first staff report on this topic, there have been both public and internal 47 
discussions on the following suggested options for the future of the Town’s court reservation 48 
system. Any option chosen will result in a change to the current park signage.  49 
 50 
 51 

Option #1 52 
Remove the online court reservation system and classify all athletic courts as open play 53 

 54 
a. Description: A paddle rack is placed at each pickleball court containing 4-16 slots for 55 

players to insert their paddle, with a sliding indicator to signify which group is next to play. 56 
b. Staff/ resources feasibility: Paddle racks are currently in place at two of the four existing 57 

pickleball courts. Staff can establish open play rules and place them on park signage and 58 
the Town’s website. No staff is required.  59 

c. Liability: This suggestion provides equal (the same) opportunity for all participants, 60 
disabled and non-disabled, to access the athletic courts. 61 

 62 
 63 

Option #2 64 
Resident group manages an ADA-compliant court reservation system 65 

 66 
a. Description: Resident group enters into a management agreement with the Town, subject 67 

to approval by the Town Council. This arrangement is comparable to those agreements 68 
held between the Town and the Ponce Inlet Community Center Board and the Lighthouse 69 
Preservation Association to manage Town-owned assets on the Town’s behalf. 70 

b. Staff/ resources feasibility: ADA-compliant court reservation systems are a paid service. 71 
If this option is selected, the Town would pay for this service instead of the resident group. 72 
The group would report to the Town through the Cultural Services Manager.  73 

 
1 Dating from April 26, 2024, when the new federal rule was adopted. 



Page 3 of 6 
 

c. Liability: The Town would still be responsible for ensuring that the reservation system 74 
complies with the technical standards for web content accessibility. The Town would also 75 
still be liable for ensuring that the resident group appropriately responds to any requests 76 
for accommodation or auxiliary aids or services.  77 

 78 
 79 

Option #3 80 
Classify certain pickleball courts as open play 81 

 82 
a. Description: One-to-three pickleball courts would be designated as open play, leaving the 83 

other pickleball court(s) available for reservations. 84 
b. Staff/ resources feasibility: ADA-compliant court reservation systems are a paid service. 85 

Both the reservation system and Town signage will need to reflect the court designation as 86 
reserved or open play.  87 

c. Liability:  This does not address the problem of a person with a disability who is unable 88 
to access the online reservation system.  In this case, the benefit is not the use of the athletic 89 
courts; rather, it is the opportunity to reserve a particular court on a particular day at a 90 
particular time. A solution is one that provides a person with a disability the same 91 
opportunity to reserve an athletic court as is afforded to those without a disability. Failure 92 
to provide an alternative method of access may be an independent basis for liability 93 
under Title II.  94 

 95 
 96 

Option #4 97 
Classify the tennis court as open play 98 

 99 
a. Description: Staff may also designate certain hours between tennis and pickleball for open 100 

play. For example, tennis from 6:00 am - 2:00 pm. However, this leaves tennis players with 101 
less athletic court time than all other sports. 102 

b. Staff/ resources feasibility: See Option #3.  103 
c. Liability: See Option #3          104 

 105 
 106 

Option #5 107 
Block off (4) hours each day for open play 108 

 109 
a. Description: Staff may designate certain hours for open play, with reservations available 110 

for the remaining hours. This option is made for either the tennis court or select pickleball 111 
courts. 112 

b. Staff/ resources feasibility: See Option #3 and Option #4. 113 
c. Liability:  See Option #3         114 

 115 
 116 

Option #6- 117 
Select a new reservation system vendor that is ADA-compliant 118 

 119 



Page 4 of 6 
 

a. Description: Currently, the Town utilizes the vendor “holdmycourt.com” for a free court 120 
reservation system. Staff has researched several options including those provided at the 121 
May meeting from around the state and have not yet found one that is 100% compliant 122 
with the new WCAG 2.1 Level AA technical standards. Additionally, Staff found no other 123 
cities within the County operating an online reservation system for their pickleball courts. 124 

b. Staff/ resources feasibility: ADA-compliant court reservation systems are a paid service. 125 
Staff would operate and manage an online reservation system. Some systems allow for 126 
reminders to be sent out for upcoming reservations and the ability to create a wait list. 127 
However, these systems are subject to the same types of abuses and vulnerabilities as the 128 
current system, in that there are no penalties for no-shows, and it is up to the player to 129 
cancel their own reservation. There is also no way to prevent multiple accounts from being 130 
created since a player can sign up for the reservation system with multiple email addresses. 131 
A group of four can still reserve four hours of play on one court, or even longer if additional 132 
email addresses are used within the group. 133 

c. Liability:  See Option #2 134 
 135 
 136 

Option #7- 137 
Hire a 24/7 call center to receive and enter court reservations 138 

 139 
a. Description: Players with or without disabilities would have the option to call a third-party 140 

vendor to make their court reservations. 141 
b. Staff/ resources feasibility: Paid service. Staff would need to confirm a third-party vendor 142 

that would provide customer service and ADA compliance. May involve longer wait times 143 
to reach a reservation agent. 144 

c. Liability:  The DOJ makes clear in the commentary to the new rule that using other means 145 
of “effective communication,” such as 24/7 staffed telephone lines, does not create an 146 
equivalent service. The DOJ expresses the view that the need to rely on customer service 147 
simply cannot present the same ease of use, independence, or privacy protection that 148 
website access can provide. As a result, this method of communication cannot substitute 149 
for a compliant website. 150 

 151 
 152 

Option #8- 153 
Changing the operating hours of the online reservation system to match the Town’s business 154 

hours, and provide a staffed line and voicemail to receive and create court reservations 155 
 156 

a. Description: Players with or without disabilities would have the option to call a staff 157 
member to make their court reservations during Town business hours (M-F, no holidays, 158 
8:00 am – 4:30 pm). This option includes a voicemail system for calls outside business 159 
hours. Staff members would then enter the reservations into the system the next business 160 
day in the order they are received.  161 

b. Staff/ resources feasibility: ADA-compliant court reservation systems are a paid service. 162 
There are 60 one-hour timeslots available to reserve for the four pickleball courts per day. 163 
This service would be available for the other athletic courts as well. Multiple staff would 164 
need to be trained and available for this option given staff work schedules, duties, and 165 



Page 5 of 6 
 

providing other services to residents. May result in longer wait times to access a staff 166 
member or reserve the player’s preferred timeslot.  167 

c. Liability:  See Option #7         168 
 169 
 170 

Option #9- 171 
Keep the online reservation system as is with no modifications. 172 

 173 
a. Description: A link to a third-party vendor for court reservations would remain on the 174 

Town’s website, whether that is the current system or another that may provide improved 175 
administrative efficiency or reservation reminders and a waitlist.  176 

b. Staff/ resources feasibility: The current reservation system is free, however, an ADA-177 
compliant reservation system would be a paid service. Staff to provide administrative 178 
support such as closures and cancellations within the online system. These measures are 179 
also currently provided via the Town’s means of advertising or temporary signage.  180 

c. Liability:           181 
a. Technical standards: The Town will have to remediate the current reservation 182 

system to ensure that it meets the WCAG 2.1 level AA standards by April 26, 2027. 183 
Failure to comply exposes the Town to the enforcement mechanisms and penalties 184 
noted above. 185 

b. Accommodation request: When an individual on the basis of a disability cannot 186 
access or does not have equal access to a service, program, or activity through a 187 
public entity’s website or mobile app that conform to WCAG standards, the public 188 
entity still has the obligation to provide the individual an alternative method of 189 
access to that service, program, or activity, unless the public entity can demonstrate 190 
that the alternative methods of access results in a fundamental alteration in the 191 
nature of the service, program, or activity or in an undue financial and 192 
administrative burden. 193 

 194 
 195 
Recommendation:  196 
From the Town Attorney’s office, “each of the suggestions presented carries a different level of 197 
inherent risk. While our office can offer general legal advice on the relevant laws and potential 198 
outcomes, we are aware of neither the feasibility of implementing those suggestions that may be 199 
considered viable, nor the Town’s risk tolerance. Ultimately, this is a policy decision.”  200 
 201 
Based on the feasibility and legal analysis in this report, Option #1 for open play represents the 202 
lowest level of liability. However, based on the public comments received before, during, and after 203 
the May 6th meeting, it is the least popular option for the most active players. Conversely, leaving 204 
the current reservation system in place or replacing it with a more robust system opens the Town 205 
to liability without additional resources committed to accommodating special requests for access. 206 
None of these options are perfect.  207 
 208 
Staff is requesting the Board provide a recommendation to Town Council on which option the 209 
Town should implement regarding future of the online court reservation system.  210 
 211 



Page 6 of 6 
 

 212 
         May 24, 2024 213 
Jackie Alex, Cultural Services Manager    Date 214 
 215 
 216 
Attachment:  217 
“ADA Website Compliance & Accessibility Requirements for the Pollard Park Athletic Court Reservation 218 
System.” Provided by Attorney Holli New representing the Town Attorney’s Office 219 



















 
 

 

 
Report to the Cultural Services, 

Historic Preservation, and Tree Advisory Board 
 
Topic: Tree Removal Request – 112 Inlet Harbor Road 

 
Summary:  
 
The applicant is requesting the removal of two specimen Live Oak trees 
with trunks measuring 18” and 26” DBH (diameter at breast height) for 
the construction of a new single-family home. 
 
Suggested Motion/Action: 
 

At Board’s discretion. 

 
Requested by: 
 

Ms. Rippey, Principal Planner 

 
Approved by: 
 

Mr. Disher, Town Manager 

Meeting Date: June 3, 2024 

Agenda Item:   7-A 



 

 

 

 

MEMORANDUM 
TOWN OF PONCE INLET, PLANNING AND DEVELOPMENT DEPARTMENT 

The Town of Ponce Inlet staff shall be professional, caring and fair in delivering community excellence 
while ensuring Ponce Inlet citizens obtain the greatest value for their tax dollar. 

 

To:  Cultural Services, Historic Preservation & Tree Advisory Board 
 

From:  Patty Rippey, AICP, Principal Planner 

Date:  May 14, 2024 
 

Subject: DEVR 314-2024 Tree Removal Permit Application 
 

REQUEST: Removal of 2 specimen trees measuring over 18” and 26” DBH for 

construction of new single-family residential structure 

LOCATION: 112 Inlet Harbor Rd. 

APPLICANT: Eric Olsen, Olsen Custom Homes 

RECOMMENDATION: Approval, subject to conditions, based on the findings in this report 
 
 

MEETING DATE:  June 3, 2024 

 1 
INTRODUCTION  2 

The applicant is requesting the removal of two specimen Live Oak trees with trunks measuring 3 

18” and 26” DBH (Diameter at Breast Height) for the construction of a new single-family home 4 

(Location Map, Attachment 1). 5 
 6 

AUTHORITY AND PROCESS  7 

Trees greater than or equal to 18” DBH require approval of the Cultural Services Board to remove, 8 

pursuant to LUDC Section 4.10.5. Tree removal applications are reviewed first by Staff and then 9 

provided to the Board for a decision. Review of such applications must consider certain standards 10 

and criteria listed in Section 4.10.4.C and D. For trees of this size, the Board has authority to 11 

approve, approve with conditions, or deny the proposed tree removal. If approved, the tree removal 12 

permit shall only be issued in conjunction with the permit for the single-family home. Tree removal 13 

permits approved in conjunction with development expire concurrently with their associated 14 

development permit and may be extended by the Town in the same manner as the development 15 

permit. Pursuant to LUDC Sec. 4.10.6.B, decisions of the Cultural Services Board may be appealed 16 

to the Town Council. Appeals shall be in writing and submitted to the town with the appropriate 17 

fee within 15 days of the Board’s decision. The Town Council will then hear the appeal at its next 18 

available meeting. 19 
 20 

  21 



DEVR 314-2024 Request for Tree Removal  Page 2 

112 Inlet Harbor Road 

 

 

PROPERTY OVERVIEW   22 

The subject property was platted as Lot 7 of the “Inlet Harbor Estates” subdivision in 2020 23 

(Attachment 2). The property is accessed from the north side of Inlet Harbor Road. The property 24 

measures approximately 10,092 square feet (0.25 acres) in size, which meets the minimum size 25 

requirements of the R-1 (Low density single family residential) zoning district and maximum 26 

density of the corresponding Low-density single family residential future land use category. The 27 

lot is approximately 98 feet in width and 102 feet in depth. The surrounding properties are also 28 

zoned R-1 for single-family residential development. The abutting lots to the north, east, and west 29 

are vacant residential lots. The abutting lots to the south are developed with single family homes. 30 
 31 

The property owner and the contractor have designed a new, two-story single-family home to be 32 

constructed on the property. The first floor is 2,309 square feet, the second floor is 1,081 square 33 

feet for a total living area of 3,390 square feet. The garage, lanai, entry, and balcony are a total of 34 

1,147 square feet. The driveway is approximately 750 square feet. The proposed building coverage 35 

is calculated as approximately 31% of the lot to meet the maximum allowance of 35% for the R-1 36 

zoning district.  37 
 38 
A total of 11 trees, primarily oaks, are depicted on the survey (Attachment 3), of which 6 are 39 

proposed for removal from the building footprint and clear zone (within 8 feet of the structure). A 40 

total of 6 Live Oak trees are proposed for removal: 2- 10”, 1-12”, 1- 16” Live Oak tree within the 41 

footprint of the proposed house, 1 – 18” Live Oak tree within the clear zone on northwest side of 42 

house (requires CSB approval), 1 - 26” DBH Live Oak tree within the footprint of the proposed 43 

house (requires CSB approval). Photos of trees proposed for removal are provided in Attachment 44 

4.  45 

 46 

A total of 5 trees will be preserved: 1 - 10” Sabal Palm tree on the center front of property, 2 - 47 

20” Live Oak trees on the front towards southeast side of the property, 2 - 12” DBH Live Oak 48 

on the northeast rear side and east side of the property. One 24” DBH Live Oak in the front right-49 

of-way will also be preserved.  50 

 51 

LUDC REQUIREMENTS 52 

Placement of a new single-family home on this property is required to meet the standard setbacks 53 

for the R-1 zoning district of 30 feet in the front, 10 feet on the sides, and 30 feet in the rear. 54 

Accessory uses and structures are required to meet a 10-foot setback from the rear and side 55 

property lines. General driveway standards require a setback of five feet from property lines and 56 

maximum width at the property line of 24 feet. The setbacks, together with the easements and plat 57 

restrictions, define the buildable area of the lot and associated site improvements. 58 
 59 
The LUDC requires protected trees removed from a property to be replaced unless the replacement 60 

is specifically exempt. The number of replacement trees required depends on the location, number, 61 

and size of the tree(s) being removed. In this case, if all 6 trees are removed as requested, the 62 

required mitigation would be as much as 28 replacement trees according to LUDC Sec. 4.10.4.E., 63 

Table 4-19.  64 
  65 



DEVR 314-2024 Request for Tree Removal  Page 3 

112 Inlet Harbor Road 

 

 
Table 4-19 Tree Replacement Mitigation 66 

Size of Tree Removed (DBH)  

Number of Replacement Trees Required per 

Tree Removed 

If trees preserved in 

protected zone only 

If trees also preserved 

outside protected zone 

4 inches—6 inches  1 1 

>6 inches—8 inches  2 1 

>8 inches—12 inches  3 1 

>12 inches—18 inches  5 1 

>18"+  7 1 

 67 

The number of replacement trees 68 

required can be reduced by 69 

preserving trees outside the 70 

designated protection zone 71 

(DPZ), where such protection is 72 

strictly required. The DPZ 73 

includes the front yard, side 74 

yards, and rearmost ten feet of 75 

the rear yard, but not the actual 76 

footprint of the principal and 77 

accessory structures, uses 78 

permitted in the buffers, and area 79 

lying within eight feet of the 80 

house (clear zone).  81 

 

As an incentive to preserve 82 

additional trees, the replacement 83 

ratio drops to 1:1 if trees are also 84 

preserved outside of the DPZ. 85 

However, according to the tree 86 

survey and house layout provided, no trees are being preserved outside the DPZ. 87 
 88 

The LUDC also provides replacement exemptions on heavily wooded lots. Per definition, a heavily 89 

wooded lot is, “An undeveloped property with an abundance of trees and a canopy coverage of at 90 

least 90 percent.” On heavily wooded lots, specimen trees removed from the building footprint 91 

and driveway are exempt from replacement, provided that, “…every effort is made to position the 92 

building and site elements to minimize tree removal, and no trees are removed from the designated 93 

protection zone”. While the tree canopy appears significant, only 12 trees are located on the parcel 94 

per the tree survey, of which 6 are proposed for removal. For purposes of mitigation, this lot is not 95 

considered heavily wooded.  96 
 97 
  98 



DEVR 314-2024 Request for Tree Removal  Page 4 

112 Inlet Harbor Road 

 

 

REVIEW OF APPLICATION 99 

Pursuant to LUDC Section 4.10.4.C specimen trees are protected even outside of the DPZ. The 100 

Applicant submitted a written narrative to describe the request and justification for removal of the 101 

proposed specimen trees for the construction of a new single-family residential structure 102 

(Attachment 5). The applicant stated that he and the Contractor attempted numerous designs 103 

variations to preserve additional trees. However, the location of the trees proposed for removal are 104 

well within the footprint of the home or within the clear zone of the structure. The trees planned 105 

to be preserved are within the DPZ. There are no trees located in the proposed stormwater retention 106 

areas or within the parking or driving areas on site.  107 

 108 

The criteria pursuant to LUDC Section 4.10.4.D for determining extent of tree and vegetation 109 

protection and removal is provided below. 110 
 111 

1. The actual or intended use of the property; 112 
 113 
Staff response: The property has appropriate zoning for single-family residential 114 

development consistent with the intended use of the property and the Town’s 115 

Comprehensive Plan. The property is a platted lot within a single-family subdivision 116 

that complies with LUDC dimensional requirements. This standard has been met. 117 

 118 

2. The desirability of preserving any tree by reason of its size, age, or other outstanding 119 

quality, such a uniqueness, rarity, or status as a specimen, historic or landmark tree; 120 
 121 
Staff response: Although large, the trees do not meet the criteria for designation as 122 

historic or landmark and are not otherwise unique or rare. This standard has been met. 123 

 124 

3. The extent to which the area would be subject to increased water runoff or 125 

environmental degradation due to removal of the trees; 126 
 127 
Staff response: The removal of the trees will not increase water runoff or environmental 128 

degradation. The trees will be replaced with other specimen-species trees elsewhere on 129 

the property. Additionally, the site development will contain the first inch of 130 

stormwater runoff utilizing on-site retention areas at the front and sides of the home. 131 

This standard has been met. 132 
 133 

4. The need for visual screening in transitional/buffer areas between different types of 134 

uses; from non-residential service areas and structures; and from glare, blight, or other 135 

unsightliness; or any other affront to the visual or aesthetic sense in the area; 136 
 137 
Staff response: The property is surrounded by similar single-family development and 138 

fronts Inlet Harbor Road, so additional screening from other types of uses is not 139 

required. The development will comply with the Town’s landscaping requirements 140 

based on the linear perimeter calculation, plus tree removal replacement mitigation. 141 

This standard will be met.  142 
 143 

5. The effect that changes to the natural grade will have on the trees to be preserved;  144 



DEVR 314-2024 Request for Tree Removal  Page 5 

112 Inlet Harbor Road 

 

 

Staff response: The property is located within Flood Zone X.1 The grade elevations 145 

included on the survey range from 7.3’ at the northeast rear corner to 5.5 feet in the 146 

southeast front area of property. The proposed finished floor elevation is 7.5 feet. The 147 

preserved trees are at an elevation of 5.5 feet. The overall grading of the site will drain 148 

from rear to front with the front of property graded to a 5.5 elevation, the same 149 

elevation as the trees to be preserved. This standard will be met. 150 
 151 

6. The extent to which a reasonable design effort has been made to save as many of the 152 

existing trees found on-site as possible and to work with the existing grades; and 153 
 154 
Staff response: The property owner’s narrative states that he and the builder deliberated 155 

numerous times on different layouts and positions to try to shrink the home’s first floor 156 

plan to protect more areas with no success. The largest tree is growing directly 157 

horizontal to the structure location and would still require removal even if the first-158 

floor footprint was shifted back 10 feet. Trees not located within the footprint or clear 159 

zone will be preserved and no trees are proposed for removal from the parking or 160 

driving areas. Based on the site layout, number of trees to be removed, and extent of 161 

the development area proposed for the principal structure, it appears a “reasonable” 162 

design effort has been made to save existing trees. This standard has been met. 163 
 164 

7. The extent to which site design considerations, including the relocation of roads and 165 

utilities, have been incorporated into the project. 166 
 167 
Staff response: Relocation of roads/utilities as part of the site design are not relevant 168 

to this single-family lot. This standard is not applicable to this application. 169 
 170 
DISCUSSION 171 

Based on the material provided with the application, an effort has been made to position the 172 

building and site elements to reduce the number of trees removed. The proposed design occupies 173 

most if not all available horizontal space on the lot on which to build. The size of the lot does not 174 

allow altering of the design to save the trees and still meet the required yard setbacks.  175 
 176 

RECOMMENDATION 177 

Based on the findings of this report, the application complies with the specimen tree protection 178 

requirements of LUDC Section 4.10.4.C and meets the criteria of LUDC Section 4.10.4.D to 179 

support the removal of the two specimen Live Oak trees measuring 18” and 26” DBH. Staff 180 

recognizes that removal of six centrally located Live Oak trees (2 –10”, 12”, 16”, 18”, 26” DBH) 181 

within the building footprint of the primary structure is likely unavoidable for development of the 182 

lot. Staff recommends approval, subject to the following conditions:  183 

 

1. The removal of trees cannot commence until after all required permits for the new single-

family home have been issued by the Planning and Development Department. 

2. During construction, appropriate measures to prevent the destruction or damage of all 

protected vegetation and trees shall be consistent with LUDC Section 4.10.4.D.4. 

 
1 Zone X is an area of minimal flood hazard that is determined to be outside the Special Flood Hazard Area and 

higher than the elevation of the 0.2-percent-annual-chance (or 500-year) flood. 



DEVR 314-2024 Request for Tree Removal  Page 6 

112 Inlet Harbor Road 

 

 

3. A total of 28 trees a minimum of 6 feet in height and 2.5 caliper is required for mitigation.  

4. The final landscape plan and tree replacement mitigation for the property shall meet all 

requirements pursuant to LUDC Section 4.10. 

5. If there is no room left for required plantings, the applicant shall pay an amount equal to 

the number of replacement trees required per Table 4-19, multiplied by the tree 

replacement fee in the Town’s adopted fee schedule. 

 

 
        May 15, 2024 

Patty Rippey, Principal Planner     Date 

 
 

Attachments: 

1. Location map 

2. Inlet Harbor Subdivision plat, Lot 7 

3. Tree Survey  

4. Photos taken April 23, 2024 

5. Narrative provided by Applicant  



 

ATTACHMENT 1  

LOCATION MAP 

 

 

Property Address/Location:    112 Inlet Harbor Road 

 

ATTACHMENT 1 

LOCATION MAP 

 

T O W N  O F  P O N C E  I N L E T 

 

 

  



 

ATTACHMENT 2  

LOT 7 – INLET HARBOR ESTATES SUBDIVISION 

 

 

 



 

ATTACHMENT 3 

SITE LAYOUT – TREE SURVEY (TREES ONLY) 

 

 
 

 

 

  



 

ATTACHMENT 3 

SITE LAYOUT – TREE SURVEY (WITH FOOTPRINT OF HOUSE) 

 
  



 

ATTACHMENT 4 – PHOTOS OF TREES PROPOSED FOR REMOVAL 
 

16” & 26” DBH Live Oak trees - within footprint of structure 

Southeast area of proposed structure (Front/Right) 

 

 

  



 

 

 

1 – 18” Live Oak – within clear zone  

Northwest side of proposed structure less than 8 feet form lanai (Rear/Left) 

 

 

 



 

ATTACHMENT 5 – APPLICANT’S NARRATIVE  

 

 

112 Inlet Harbor Road, Ponce Inlet 
Michael Schaler 
Request for approval of removal of trees 

 

 


	2. - item 6 -  Athletic Court Reservation System.pdf
	The Town of Ponce Inlet staff shall be professional, caring and fair in delivering community excellence
	while ensuring Ponce Inlet residents obtain the greatest value for their tax dollar.




